UNIVERSITY OF TARTU

European College

MA Thesis

SYMBOLS OF IDENTITY: COMMEMORATIVE HOLIDAYS IN POST-SOVIET RUSSIA

By Elizaveta Parshintceva

Supervisor: Heiko Pääbo, PhD

I have written the Master's thesis independently.

All works and major viewpoints of the other authors, data from other sources of literature and elsewhere used for writing this paper have been referenced.

December 4, 2015

Student's code B19508

The defense takes place: December 18, 2015. Tartu, Estonia

Opponent: Prof. Andrey Makarychev

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	5
INTRODUCTION	6
CHAPTER ONE: COMMEMORATIVE HOLIDAYS AS A WAY OF FORM	IATION OF
NATIONAL IDENTITY	10
Role of commemorative holidays in the construction of national ide	entity11
Methodology	15
CHAPTER TWO: TRANSFORMATION OF RUSSIAN FESTIVE CULTUR	RE IN POST-
SOVIET TIMES	20
Symbolic policy on political agenda	20
Day of National Unity (November 4): transformation of the meaning	ıg of the
Soviet holiday	25
History/background	25
Data from polls	28
Position of political parties	29
Day of Russia (June 12): controversial status of newly created	
holiday	34
History/background	34
Data from polls	35
Position of political parties	36

Victory Day (May 9): Soviet holiday for the construction of po	ost-Soviet
identity	41
History/background	41
Data from polls	43
Position of political parties	45
Discussion	47
CONCLUSION	49
BIBLIOGRAPHY	51
Theoretical background	51
Empirical analysis	53

ABSTRACT

Holidays as a collective form of activity at all times is a reflection of the profound changing in society's values. The reducing need for a holiday, loss of interest in it indicates that values, represented in celebrations, lose their meaning. In turn, establishment of a new holiday or restoration of practices of events celebrated earlier imply a change of value priorities in the society. The Russian case of transformation of public holidays is in some way unique. The regime change in early 1990s did not lead to abolition of Soviet holidays, but demanded from the new government efforts to adapt to new realities.

This research shows the short history of introduction or evolution of three Russian commemorative holidays: Day of National Unity, Day of Russia, and Victory Day. All of them are intended to construct new Russian national identity, different from the old Soviet one. The analysis of discourse around these holidays suggests that due to the short history of the new state, political forces do not have clear understanding of essence of holidays and of ideas how they have to be celebrated. Without the agreement among political elite, it is difficult to construct new Russian national identity among the population. Currently, opinion polls show that two of studied holidays – Day of National Unity and Day of Russia – have not yet found their place in people's minds. However, Victory Day remains the main uniting holiday for all Russian citizens, although its history, connected with crimes of Stalinism, is sometimes regarded ambiguously.

INTRODUCTION

Life in a modern society, with changing information flows and movement of capital and labour, forces people to find a new way to make sense of themselves in society, to determine the correlation of themselves with different social groups, and to review the established social identification. Hall (1996, p. 1) states, "There has been a veritable discursive explosion in recent years around the concept of 'identity', at the same moment as it has been subjected to a searching critique". Since the time it was written, interest and discussion around the phenomenon of identity have increased. This is because essential features of modern life, state of society in countries, regions, and social and ethnic groups are studied through identity.

With the collapse of the Soviet Union, Russia is in the crisis of national identity. Most people of working age in Russia had undergone changes of the shape of country's borders, changes of social relations, and changes of ideas about the place of the state in world community.

What is the new identity of people in the Russian Federation? Today, the country continues to face the task of forming a unified general identity in the multi-religious and multi-ethnical Russian society.

The state of national identity is not only a prism through which the society is examined, but also an important factor in mobilisation of people and in their solidarity. That is why in recent time state institutions, as well as leaders of political movements, were concerned about the formation of identity with certain values, in which they are interested. Identity of Russians remains a field of discussion for political forces.

Complexity of studying the national identity stems from the fact that the current discourse, broadcasted by authorities, operates simultaneously with the discourse of opposition representatives. It is important to identify how different discourses reflect people's minds and how discourse itself forms the national identity.

Public holidays are an important component of the "invention of tradition" (Hobsbawm and Ranger 1983, pp. 1-2); it is important for the construction of unified

national identity. Representatives of the post-Soviet Russian government, addressing the issue of historical continuity, hurried to disown the Soviet past: Soviet holidays were partly cancelled, different awards, some monuments of the Soviet era, and other paraphernalia, reminiscent of Soviet times, disappeared. For example, instead of Day of Accord and Reconciliation, Unity Day was introduced; May 1 (International Workers' Day during Soviet times) is now celebrated as Day of Spring and Labour. However, after renaming holidays, heads of the state have not taken care of population with providing them appropriate and comprehensible legend. As a result, today 36% of surveyed Russians call the main national holiday – Day of Russia – as Independence Day of Russia (as it was called during Soviet times); most of the Russians still do not know why Day of Russia is celebrated on 12 of June (BILI/IOM 2011).

Sherlock says that if Russia continues its current policies, then it "will suffer from increasing bouts of amnesia" – idealisation of the Soviet era, which became in 1990s as a kind of "revenge of the past". Enthusiasm for this "revival" of the Soviet era and nostalgia for the Stalin era clearly weaken the ability of society to define its political identity in civic and democratic terms (Sherlock 2007, pp 150-151). Sherlock warns that in case of increasing centralisation of power in Russia and the other contrary to democratic principles processes, the Russian state will remind more and more its Soviet predecessor, requiring enormous sacrifices of Russian society (Sherlock 2007, p. 185).

This research is of interest because the Russian case of transformation of public holidays in its own way unique. The change of regime in early 1990s did not lead to the abolition of Soviet holidays, but demanded from the new government their efforts to adapt to new realities. It is clear that the denial of Soviet ideology encouraged the search for new meanings and narratives of events that could form the basis for the revision of the genealogy of the Russian state. Thus, studying the Russian holidays, it is possible to trace how the ideological foundation of the new regime was established, and to identify competition in production of ideas.

The need for understanding the potential of public holidays in Russia determines the relevance of attention to practices of their use by power and other political actors. This research, by studying public holidays, is intended to clarify, on the one hand, particularities of construction of national identity, the legitimisation of the political regime, which contributes to better understanding of political, social, and cultural changes in society. On the other hand, it discovers what Russian political forces are involved in the competition for the interpretation of political reality and what alternative meanings they use.

The academic input of this work is that the research can help expand the theoretical and methodological basis for Political Studies. Its importance also lies in the structuring of concepts of political parties on the occasions of commemorative holidays, which can allow using them in other analyses of celebrating practices.

The research problem of this thesis is that in today's Russia there is a disagreement among political parties about ideological filling of some holidays, remained from Soviet Soviet times, and holidays, which were introduced after the collapse of the Soviet Union.

The aim of this thesis is, using literature review and data evidence collection, to answer the research questions:

what is the history of introduction of studied commemorative holidays and what are the reasons for changes of names and celebration dates that have been made?

what are the positions of political parties and what is the general attitude of the population about studied commemorative holidays?

is there a connection between what ideological meaning parties put into holidays and how population perceives it in practice?

Tasks of the Master's thesis are:

to analyse the role of holidays in the construction and maintenance of collective identity;

to divide public holidays in Russia into groups and to define stages of their transformation for their more convenient use in the analysis;

to trace the history of establishing of three Russian commemorative holidays and to analyse their meanings, fulfilled by political elite, as well as to analyse population's attitude to these holidays;

to assert a confidence that new holidays in Russia could become a tool for promotion of national identity, however they still do not perform this function, whereas the old Soviet holiday shows tighter national bounds even in a new young state.

The first chapter "Commemorative holidays as a way of formation of national identity" deals with modern scientific approaches to the study of national identity. The chapter presents the analysis of public holidays as a way of constructing identity. The chapter also describes the methodology used for the empirical part of the research alongside with the short description of data sources.

The second chapter "Transformation of Russian festive culture in post-Soviet times" presents the cultural analysis of three modern commemorative public holidays in terms of the transformation of the holidays' content as a result of the reception of historical heritage: Day of National Unity, Day of Russia, and Victory Day.

The conclusion summarises research findings and identifies main trends in contemporary commemorative holidays of the Russian Federation.

CHAPTER ONE: COMMEMORATIVE HOLIDAYS AS A WAY OF FORMATION OF NATIONAL IDENTITY

Construction and maintenance of collective identity, legitimation of existing order, and planning of future are part of functions that holidays are capable to perform. When political regime is changing, targets of domestic and foreign policy usually dramatically change too, but it does not always lead to the rejection of the symbolic heritage of the previous period (Rolf 2009, pp. 351-352).

Studying public holidays of transition and transforming societies allows learning how value systems are changing, how the competition of ideas is going on, and how historically significant selection of areas for development is being implemented.

Study of commemorative holidays also allows taking into account particularities of national identity construction and political regime legitimation, which contributes to a better understanding of political, social, and cultural changes in society.

Not so many publications are directly devoted to the topic of this thesis. However, there is a number of works devoted to specific aspects of the subject under study. This allows the study of practical aspects of the use of holidays in Russian context, based on existing experience.

Valuable contribution to the research is based on works of authors engaged in study of historical memory and the use of past in politics. As a classical work, analysing different kinds of practices that seem old and rooted but in fact are not, is considered the book "The Invention of Tradition" edited by Hobsbawm and Ranger (1983). The topic of politics of memory in Russia in 1990-2000s explored by Koposov (2011), Miller (2012), Sherlock (2011), et al. They pay attention to the study of causality, assessments of events, the practice of using the history of certain political forces in Russia today. Koposov (2011) provides an overview of the evolution of collective representations of past and history politics in Russia of 1985-2000. Miller (2012) discusses the political use of past in XXI century. Sherlock (2012) writes about how the United States and Russia view their contentious past.

Important are studies that reveal particularities of state official rituals and their role in political system and political culture of Soviet society. These include monographs by Glebkin (1998), Rolf (2009), Zygulski (1981). Glebkin (1998) raises many questions about Russian-Soviet continuum and its features, unfolding through time. Rolf (2009) examines creation and perpetuation of large-scale celebrations such as May Day, the anniversary of the October Revolution, Harvest Day, and others throughout the Soviet era. Zygulski (1981) conducts a detailed analysis of the transformation of both European and Soviet model of holiday.

There are not so many scientific publications, which would have raised the question of the meaning of public holidays in post-Soviet Russia. However, the book of Smith (2002) should be highlighted, in which one chapter is devoted to developments in the Russian festive calendar of Yeltsin presidency.

Notable is the collective work "National Days: Constructing and Mobilising National Identity" (ed. McCrone 2009), in which authors consider the use of national holidays in a change of political regime, and as a tool that construes national identity. However, the book does not disclose other important functions of holidays. Russian case in this paper is not specifically addressed.

It is possible to say that at present the number of political studies, devoted to the thesis' concerns about selected holidays, is small. Thus, despite the presence of numerous works on holiday's culture, there is a need for a more systematic study of the political functions of public holidays, including Russian material.

Role of commemorative holidays in the construction of national identity

Many researchers, using constructivist strategies for studying nationalism, believe that identity is constructed by political elites and intellectuals, and not generated by itself and is not inherited from history (Anderson 2001; Hobsbawm 2002). Such activity on the construction of identity embodies the so-called identity politics, which represents significant symbols by educational policy, public holiday, socially significant daily practices, and so on.

Political elites act as an unconditional subject of identity politics, another thing that they are heterogeneous, and positions of different groups differ in terms of assessment of identity. A special role in the politics of identity belongs to intellectuals and intellectual communities. Identity politics, pursued by the state and the elites, aimed at consolidation of the society, creating macropolitical identity, achieving internal unity, and integration within the existing nation. Identity politics provides the stability and vitality of the modern state. The instruments of this policy, according to Malinova, are the "official language, school programmes, the requirements related to the acquisition of citizenship, national symbols and holidays, renaming of topographic objects, and so on" (Malinova 2010: 91).

Modern politics takes aesthetic, entertaining character. Mosse says in this regard about the emergence of "a new political style" (Mosse 1975: 7) in which "any political action has to be transformed into a spectacle" (Mosse 1975: 18). Holiday performs a special role in ritual consolidation of political myth and identity formation using aesthetic means. Holiday serves as means of reproduction of identity.

There is an approach which provided by authors of the monograph "National days: Constructing and mobilising national identity" (McCrone 2009). They define national holidays as "unstable signifiers". Authors of the monograph convincingly show that over time all national symbols become the subject of editing, rewriting, revising, and even deliberate destruction by ruling elites. However, unlike conventional national symbols, national holidays do not appear to us as a constant empirical reality or daily 'flagging', which stabilise our sense of collective identity (Geisler 2009: 16).

Causes of "instability" of national holidays lie in the fact that holidays are cyclical and occur only once a year; despite the fact that holidays make 24-hour "pause" in life, people can deliberately ignore them, not perceiving as "something special"; their meaning may change over time (Geisler 2009: 17).

As the "unstable symbols" (McCrone 2009), holidays, according to Efremova, are a way of building of identity and the construction of a single community. "National holidays are <...> an instrument of symbolic politics, stimulating solidarity and motivating to certain political action" (Efremova 2012: 308).

"Stable" national symbols, encountered in daily life every day, are just what Luhmann described as "background of social reality" (Luhmann 2000). In other words, they seem to complement the idea of national identity, maintain loyalty to various manifestations of national narrative. In contrast, national holiday is a direct expression of this narrative, and therefore plays a special role in series of symbolic tools, forming a sense of belonging to community (Geisler 2009: 15-16).

How is the understanding of state and national holidays as "unstable signifiers" connected with the given research? They are connected because the division into "stable" and "unstable" signifiers gives an answer to the question why some celebrations are rooted in community, while others are not. Thus, weak public holidays may signal problems with the definition of national narrative.

There are many examples of how some holidays are significant in spite of the length of its history, while others did not take root. As the experience of Australia, Germany, and Japan, national holidays are often relatively weak and are unstable symbols of national identity. This becomes apparent when they are compared with other national symbols. For example, the history of Germany during last 100 years shows that the Germans do not feel the need for a national holiday. Of larger value, in spite of contradiction, for them is a hymn, passed in 1922 by Ebert, the first president of the German republic.

For purposes of this study, it is important to analyse public holidays as unstable signifiers. This definition emphasises their special status among other state symbols. Repeating from year to year, they are able to play a national narrative.

Connection of symbolic politics and identity, carried out by the holiday, is noted by Assmann: "Holidays and rituals in the regularity of its repetition ensure transfer and dissemination of knowledge, anchoring identity, and thus reproduction of cultural identity" (Assmann 2004: 60).

Efremova defines the holiday as "a set of relatively stable and sustainable over time, constantly reproducing discursive practices and political interactions around symbolic events or dates" (Efremova 2011: 53). As a tool of motivation of political

behaviour, public holidays actualise the potential of political symbolism. The result of identity politics carried out by the holidays are the collective actions that are produced in the course of ideological and symbolic struggle for the reproduction of meanings and significance.

Efremova stresses, "The meanings, declared by public holidays, are meant as the only possible and legitimate. The result is that the holidays as symbolic systems and public political action, endowed with ideological content, are able to produce and impose representations of the social world. But we should not forget that the symbolic politics takes place in the public sphere and involves competition of meanings" (Efremova 2014: 73).

Political holiday actualises political values, introducing the most important elements of culture, such as the idea of the common past, symbols, moral and civilian values in the minds of citizens and reproduces a certain image of the past, justifying and legitimising the political foundations of the present regime (Saraykin 2011: 145). As a communicative phenomenon, the holiday creates the necessary for political elites version of political reality and operates by meanings of symbolic cultural context (Scherbinin 2007: 17).

The commonality of collective representations through shared rituals and symbols is able to generate a sense of national belonging and allows the integration into a single political community. One of these representations is national holidays. National holidays, organised on the territory of Crimea and devoted to Victory Day in the Great Patriotic War, large-scale naval parade in Sevastopol that was twice, in 2014 and 2015, visited by President, confirm the importance of symbolic meaning of such events for identity politics, and for the inclusion of new groups in the larger political community.

Therefore, the research has established that the political myth and ritual are the basis for identity politics, which in turn is an important instrument of symbolic politics. Through shared rituals and myths, the masses gain understanding of a single community within which they are located, thus forming a collective identity. The process of the invention of tradition (Hobsbawm) is always associated with the implementation and formalisation, and the new tradition is always associated with the past, despite the fact

that this relationship for the most part is fictitious. The political holiday as a symbolic form of mythic ritual action, as means of constructing a political reality, embodies the main objectives and tasks of identity politics and is an effective mechanism for working with identity as it is visual means of representation of the authorities in the context of symbolic politics, repetition and consolidation of importance of events for collective identity of society.

Methodology

The empirical part of research describes the process of the formation of Russian public holidays in post-Soviet period. Features of the emergence of Russian public holidays (Day of National Unity, Victory Day, and Day of Russia), their mechanisation by political parties are studied. In addition, this study tracks changes in the perception of events by people.

This research's strategy requires the study of the subjective side of these processes and the disclosure of subjective values brought into celebration and practices that make up the ritual of celebration. Therefore, the study is conducted within the framework of qualitative approach using the process-tracing method.

As Bennett and George stated, "The general method of process tracing is to generate and analyse data on the causal mechanisms, or processes, events, actions, expectations, and other intervening variables, that link putative causes to observed effects" (1997: 4).

There are two types of process tracing method (Bennett & George, ibid.):

- 1. Process verification, which includes testing the possibility of matching observed processes among intervening variables predicted by previous theories; and
- Process induction, which includes inductive observation of individual causal mechanisms and heuristic interpretation of these mechanisms as potential hypotheses for future testing.

The difference between these two methods is that verification process is based on deductive logic, which means that researcher pre-specifies well-defined alternative causal paths. The basis of inductive process is inductive logic of development theory. Nevertheless, both types of analysis are aimed at development of theory.

The research uses second method as it describes ways of development of celebratory practices of three public holidays in Russia.

There are five steps in applying process tracing method (Punton, Welle 2015):

- 1. Development a hypothesised causal mechanism. This step includes revising details to existing facts about developments of Russian commemorative holidays.
- 2. Operationalising the causal mechanism. This involves sequence evidence the chronology of temporal events. The research shows how events happening in a particular order.
- 3. Collecting evidence. This involves gathering evidence (in this research it is collected from secondary sources) from data polls to show public opinion on holidays and what they mean for them and from official websites of political parties to show their attitude on public holidays. There are not so many sources with original information about studied holidays (except for Victory Day, since there are a lot of discussions around it throughout the years). Most of them repeat each other. Therefore, two main principles were used for selection of sources:

it has to be official website of political parties, public organisations, or it has to be a big and reliable media source (for example, news articles);

the content of the source is largely connected with at least one of three studied holidays.

4. Assessing the inferential weight of evidence. The evidence, after being collected, is presented in the research. In case of data polls, the information is presented in textual format. In case of analysis of sources that gives overview to opinion of political parties on holidays, apart from textual form, it also presented in tables.

5. The conclusions of a process tracing exercise. The research asserts a degree of confidence, based on the evidence collected, about the influence of political parties and their ideological work by the means of public holidays to population's opinion.

The subchapter "Symbolic policy on political agenda" shows the evolution of the symbolic politics of state in relation to holidays. The subchapter pays attention to political context in which holidays were formed, as well as it identifies main trends of its use. The periodisation of symbolic politics, which is described in the subchapter, is based on stages of transformation proposed by Malinova. In addition, the subchapter shows the division of Russian commemorative holidays into "Russian" and "Soviet" group. The logic of this division is explained on the example of history of introduction and development of main public holidays in Russia.

The research gives a detailed description (in subchapters called "History/background") of a sequence of events, in case of "Russian group" (Day of National Unity, Day of Russia), which led to introducing and changing the names and dates of holidays. In case of Victory Day, since there were not changes in name or date, it gives overall background for nowadays situation with celebration practices of this holiday.

This historical explanation and description contributes to the outcomes presented in subchapters "Data from polls" and "Position of political parties", where the research analyses current opinion of population and political parties about each of studied holidays.

The focus of next three subchapters ("Day of National Unity...", "Day of Russia...", "Victory Day...") is political actions and statements on the occasion of national holidays. These holidays are chosen because two of them were introduced after the collapse of the Soviet Union and are supposed to build a common national identity for people of the new Russia, whereas Victory Day, in contrast, is inherited from Soviet times and already considered as the most uniting holiday even in modern Russia.

The analysis uses websites of political parties and public organisations containing congratulatory speeches and newspaper articles in leading journals, which allows to fix

the basic practice of celebrating holidays in analysed period and to describe them in this research.

The research analyses parliamentary parties (United Russia, Communist Party, A Just Russia, Liberal Democratic Party), since they are directly involved in establishment and abolition of public holidays, as well as non-parliamentary political parties (Yabloko, Right Cause), since they more clearly express their vision of political reality on the days of public holidays.

The research describes their attitude to each of these holidays and, based on it, divides it groups (for example, those who accept and those who deny a certain holiday) or summarises their general opinion and ideological filling of the meaning of holiday.

The study is conducted in the tradition of qualitative methodology, and therefore the results are not intended to identify quantitative characteristics of commemorative holidays in post-Soviet Russia. The focus of the research is parliamentary and non-parliamentary political parties directly involved in the process of establishing and abolishing of public holidays.

The data used for the study is laws and regulations, official transcripts of greeting speeches, transcripts of meetings of the State Duma, materials from websites of political parties and public associations, interviews, and newspaper articles. The main criterion of choosing such data sources is a relation to occasions of public holidays as a whole, and Day of National Unity, Day of Russia, and Victory Day in particular. These holidays are chosen for the analysis because they are main state holidays in the Russian Federation, and every of them at certain level touch the issue of national identity.

The research analyses 42 articles, 6 speeches, 6 interviews, 2 transcripts of the meeting of State Duma, 8 data polls, 3 laws and regulations, takes materials from 6 official websites of different political parties,

Results of discourse analysis are supplemented and verified by data of sociological surveys conducted mainly by the Fund "Public Opinion" (Фонд «Общественное мнение»), WCIOM (ВЦИОМ), and Levada-centre (Левада-центр).

All analysed materials are taken from 1991 until now. There is no narrower period samples to avoid distortions of discourse. The selection of this period is associated with the fact that the research covers discourse analysis of political parties only in new Russia, after the collapse of the Soviet Union. This is objective because after the regime change political parties appeared as such and how they build their ideological narrative, especially using a symbolic tool of commemorative holidays, is of interest for this research.

CHAPTER TWO: TRANSFORMATION OF RUSSIAN FESTIVE CULTURE IN POST-SOVIET TIMES

Collapse of the Soviet Union led to transformation, which covered all spheres of Russian society, including festive culture. One component of the latter is public holidays. They have always played an important role in the ideological politics of state, strengthening the link between people and government through joint communication, fixing events and dates, significant for country's public consciousness (Shapovalov 2013: 20).

Further subchapters analyse the process of formation of Russian public holidays in the post-Soviet period. It traces the fate of Soviet holiday (Victory Day), as well as newly established holidays (Day of National Unity, Day of Russia) in the modern calendar. The research studies the features of appearance of these holidays, their integration into the public consciousness, the degree of popularity among the population, and the competitive narratives around these holidays suggested by political parties.

Symbolic policy on the political agenda

Symbolic policy on public holidays is part of political course pursued by state. On this basis, it is possible to distinguish four stages of transformation of public holidays:

- 1990-1994 denial of totalitarian past and first attempts to adapt Soviet holidays (includes the introduction of Day of Russia);
- 1995-1999 the call for a new national idea, the search for state ideology, and work on filling Soviet holidays with new meanings;
- 2000-2011 the transition from the narrative of "new Russia" to "thousand-year history", selective attitude to past, and the reform of Russia's festive calendar (includes the introduction of Day of National Unity);
- 2012 Present a new formulation of the problem of collective identity and better targeting of certain public holidays (Ефремова 2015, pp. 12-13).*

* The development of Victory Day celebrations have taken place throughout all these stages.

First stage was associated with a justification of the course on the radical transformation of political order, which was manifested in the rejection of a number of Soviet symbols and holidays. Constitution of the USSR Day was repealed, first attempts for transformation of the main state holiday of the USSR, the Great October Socialist Revolution, were made, and new holidays in Russia were established. In general, the search for new bases of identity occurred in conditions of formation of the political design of new state and ongoing confrontation between president and parliament.

In second stage, changes were related to the search for new perspectives of interpretation of victory in the Great Patriotic War, to the renaming of the anniversary of the Great October Revolution, which was a key element of Soviet narrative, to Day of Accord and Reconciliation. At the same time, there was a search for a new national idea; in this context, Yeltsin renamed June 12 to Russia Day, marking the most important holiday. However, changing the name of holiday came into force only in 2002.

The core of the third stage of symbolic politics was the idea of President Putin to create an image of a strong state with respect to past. During this period, there had been major changes in Russian policy in the field of public events that marked the most suitable practices and meanings of celebration. Thus, the celebration of the 60th anniversary of victory was one of key events in the history of country. However, significant changes with already existing holidays occurred. For example, November 7 lost the status of national holiday. To replace it, Day of National Unity was invented. At the same time, Constitution Day, which itself would have become a symbol of new state, lost its official status.

In the new stage of symbolic politics, along with the theme of the unity of state and citizens in the context of November 4, so-called "spiritual bounds" began to be used as the ideological basis of national identity. With the presidency of Vladimir Putin, importance of "spiritual bounds" is also stressed in congratulatory messages on the occasion of Christmas. Power sees in them the conservative base of Russian identity, to which Western values increasingly represent a threat. The most noticeable effects from

the use of these categories can be seen in foreign policy rhetoric. Declared conservative values of "Russian world" are used to mobilise population in fight against external threats that supposedly can disrupt existing social consensus in Russian society.

The change of power in country after August and December events in 1991 did not lead to the abolition of Soviet state holidays. This was due to the following reasons. Firstly, Soviet state holidays had a long history of approbation in society, because namely the creation of history of holiday, the supply of its mythological aura was of a great significance in terms of strengthening state ideology. Second, the vast majority of population was attached to Soviet festive culture from childhood through activities of Pioneer and Komsomol organisations, as well as personal involvement in festive communication that bound people, united for a common goal. Third, for the complete abolition of the Soviet system of public holidays, it was necessary to find new constructs and fill them with ideological content, which was quite a challenge.

As a result, Russian holiday calendar from the beginning of new Russia was a bizarre consistence of Soviet and emerging Russian holidays. In this regard, for an objective analysis of the current state of public holidays in Russia, it is advisable to distinguish two groups of events that form the basis of modern calendar. The research conditionally denotes these groups as "Soviet" and "Russian" and analyses one holiday from the first group (Victory Day), and two holidays from the second group (Day of Russia, Day of National Unity) separately.

The formation of "Soviet" group took place because Russia inherited a number of socio-political and public holidays of USSR: New Year, International Women's Day, International Workers' Day, Victory Day, Constitution Day of the USSR, the anniversary of the Great October Socialist Revolution (Κοθεκς законов ο mpyдe PCΦCP, 1971, art. 65). Even at first glance, it was clear that some of these events did not meet new realities. However, they retained their meaning. According to Rolf, it happened because Soviet holidays were resistant (Rolf 2006: 354).

Rolf argues that even during deideologisation at the last stage of the Soviet Union, holidays did not completely lose their purpose – to influence the formation of the cultural lifestyle of Soviet man. This didactic mission disappeared after 1991. Driving force

behind the organisation of holidays now is not so much central holiday committees with their pedagogical ambitions, but rather decentralised formations of "amateur art", as well as retail space owners and sponsors. Amateur art was a Soviet phenomenon, so it is very significant for the stability of Soviet notions that this term has migrated to new Russia. (2006: 354-355).

First changes in names and in the list of Soviet state holidays were made on 25 September 1992, when there was an adoption of the Russian Federation law "On Amendments and Additions to the Labour Code of Russian Soviet Federative Socialist Republic" ("О внесении изменений и дополнений в Кодекс законов о труде РСФСР"). As a result, country had established the following holidays: New Year, International Women's Day, Spring and Labour Day, Victory Day, Day of Declaration of State Sovereignty of the Russian Federation, and the anniversary of the Great October Socialist Revolution (Ведомости Съезда народных депутатов Российской Федерации и Верховного Совета Российской Федерации 1992, №41, art. 2254).

Adoption of the law not only contributed to the consolidation of a new system of official public holidays, but also made first change in the "Soviet" group of holidays (Shapovalov 2013: 21). The USSR Constitution Day was deleted from calendar, and other holidays have retained their position. Changes were made in names and the duration of some Soviet holidays. For example, International Workers' Day turned into a celebration of Spring and Labour, and the celebration of the anniversary of the Great October Socialist Revolution has been reduced to one day.

By 2005, "Soviet" group consisted only of three holidays – International Women's Day, Spring and Labour Day, and Victory Day. Currently, these public holidays not only maintain their position in holiday calendar, but also popular among population. According to a survey conducted by WCIOM on 24-25 April 2010, about two-thirds of the Russians are celebrating May Day. According to the survey of the same year, International Women's Day and Victory Day are the most important holidays for 31% and 38% respectively (ВЦИОМ 2010, Первомай празднуют две трети россиян).

The formation of the "Russian" group of holidays took place due to several reasons. Firstly, after the formation of independent Russian state, there was a need in the

construction of a new system of public holidays, which would be subjected to different views and values. Secondly, after the collapse of the Soviet Union, some holidays automatically lost their ideological content, such as USSR Constitution Day or the anniversary of the Great October Socialist Revolution. Thirdly, during the formation of Russia, many occasions and events could form the basis for new public holidays.

Date December 12, 1993 acquired a great importance in the political life of country. On this day, together with elections to the State Duma, there was a referendum on the Constitution of the Russian Federation. Naturally, that such an important event in recent history was the reason for the introduction of another public holiday. In 1994, to Russian holiday calendar was added a new date: December 12 – Day of Constitution.

However, Day of Constitution did not become a national holiday either. The poll of the Fund "Public Opinion" (Фонд «Общественное мнение»), conducted in 2001, showed the most popular Russian holidays. According to results, the Constitution Day took the last 16th place, losing in ranking to New Year, International Women's Day, Victory Day, old New Year, Defender of the Fatherland Day, May Day, Day of the October Revolution, and Independence Day of Russia (Калачева 2003).

Apparently, this happened due to the following reasons. Firstly, in new reality it was not possible to use old national practice. For example, in the USSR, under the mobilisation of society, the celebration of Constitution Day turned into a nationwide celebration, especially in 1930s (Шаповалов 2012, p. 82). Secondly, the frequent change of the date of Constitution Day celebration in 1918, 1924, 1936, 1977, and 1993 prevented this holiday to firmly entrench in public consciousness. Third, purely ideological content of new holiday hampered adequate celebratory practices, which were essential to its integration into public consciousness.

The following updating of the "Russian" group occurred in 2001 with the adoption of new Labour Code. For the first time in Soviet and Russian history February 23, Defender of Fatherland Day had become a national holiday. Defender of the Fatherland Day only with a high degree of conditionality could be called a new holiday, because by this time it had quite a long history and traditions of celebration (Shapovalov 2013: 24).

Over time, celebration from a purely military transformed into men's holiday, because it was implied that all cohorts of men are protectors of the Fatherland. At present, Defender of the Fatherland Day is a gender couple of International Women's Day. On the day of March 8, all women in country are congratulated, regardless of their age and status, and on February 23 – all men, without specifying membership in Russian army (Shapovalov 2013: 24).

In summary, it can be noted that now "Russian" group of public holidays includes three celebrations: Defender of the Fatherland Day, Day of Russia, and Day of National Unity. Since Defender of the Fatherland Day is defined in the research as gender, but not political holiday, only two of the rest will be examined in next subchapters. In addition, modern state holiday calendar includes three "Soviet" holidays: International Women's Day, Spring and Labour Day, and Victory Day. Since Victory Day can be considered as the most influential in the issue of construction of national identity, it also will be regarded separately in this research.

Day of National Unity (November 4): transformation of the meaning of the Soviet holiday

After the collapse of the Soviet Union, the problem of the unity of nation urgently stood in front of Russia. The rise of nationalism, religious radicalism, regional isolation, and local wars have called into question the very existence of Russia as a single state and the nation.

History/background

The latest holiday, added to the "Russian" group of holidays, was Day of National Unity.

On November 7, 1996, the Decree of the President of the Russian Federation "On the Day of Accord and Reconciliation" («О Дне согласия и примирения») was introduced. Introducing new holiday, authorities attempted transformation of the anniversary of the Great October Socialist Revolution. For this, November 7th was declared as Day of Accord and Reconciliation. According to reformers, new holiday was to promote unity and consolidation of Russian society (Shapovalov 2013: 21).

However, from beginning it was clear that the attempt to transform the anniversary of the Great October Socialist Revolution to Day of Accord and Reconciliation had a little chance. Many questions surrounded the ideological component of new holiday. Who or what had to reconcile on this day – democratic and socialist form of government, the capitalist and socialist mode of production, democracy advocates and their opponents, or the Russian and Soviet period of history? An attempt to change semantic characteristics of November holiday only emphasised its ideological determinism (Filina 2015: 15).

In early 2000s, Russian authorities had attempted to completely replace the anniversary of the Great October Socialist Revolution from social consciousness. On December 30, 2001, a new Labour Code was adopted. It reflected changes that occurred with public holidays. For example, there was a holiday, which officially had double name: November 7 – the anniversary of the October Revolution and Day of Accord and Reconciliation ($Coбрание 3аконодательства P\Phi 2002, № 1, art. 3$).

November 7th, Day of the October Revolution, was the most important holiday of Soviet calendar (Fursov 2014). The dominant feature of this holiday is its ideological content. It was the idea of the birth of new world and the destruction of old; the understanding of the date of November 7 as the starting point of a new model of historical time determined its leadership in the Soviet era. However, over time, ideology weakened, and communicative function came to the fore (Fursov 2014).

The idea to make November 4 as a holiday, Day of National Unity, was suggested by the Interreligious Council of Russia in September 2004. It was supported by the Duma committee on labour and social policy, and thus acquired the status of parliamentary initiative. On December 27, 2004, the draft was adopted in third reading and became law (4-е ноября – День народного единства 2015).

In the same year the Law of the Russian Federation of 29 December 2004 "On Amendments to Article 112 of the Labour Code of the Russian Federation" (Собрание законодательства РФ 2005, №1 (1), art. 27), was passed. Therefore, in 2005 the Russians got a new state holiday – Day of National Unity, which was designed to perform the function of displacement and substitution of the Day of the October Revolution (Попова 2011: 20). However, the chronological proximity of 4 and 7 November was to

direct people to the idea that a new holiday is an alternative to the anniversary of the October Revolution (Shapovalov 2013: 22).

Day of National Unity in Russia, November 4, is the youngest among modern holidays, but it concentrated the node problem of transformation of holidays in Russian culture. In minds of most people, this holiday has emerged as an alternative to the celebration of the October Revolution. Although the appearance of this date on calendar has other reasons, the chronological proximity of 7 and 4 of November led to this kind of perception of new holiday (Юрлова 2007). In the context of research, it is important that the transformation of November 7 to November 4 fully reflect the transformation of national identity, embodied in public holidays.

The date of the holiday was not chosen arbitrarily, but had a historical basis. In the autumn of 1612, November 4th (October 22 in Old Style), Moscow was liberated from Polish garrison, and there was a turning point in the struggle to preserve Russian statehood. Based on this historical fact, in 2004, the State Duma was suggested to introduce a new holiday – November 4th. It was approved, so in 2005, the calendar had a new state holiday – Day of National Unity. New holiday caused serious polemic in political and academic circles (ВЦИОМ 2011, Четвёртое ноября: праздник под знаком вопроса; ВЦИОМ 2010, День народного единства: ускользающий смысл праздника; ВЦИОМ 2009).

Holiday exists in culture according to its own laws, connected not only with external social determination, but also with internal needs of society as a whole and each person individually. It was this kind of a holiday in pre-revolutionary Russia. However, it should not be forgotten that this day organically combined secular and religious dimensions of culture: the day of liberation of Russia from foreigners and the celebration of Kazan Icon of the Mother of God (Православные христиане отмечают праздник в честь Казанской Иконы Божией Матери 2013).

The effectiveness of discourse around holiday largely depends on the perception of the organic nature of new holiday. In this regard, Day of National Unity, which, according to organisers, should supplant not only Day of Accord and Reconciliation, but also fight finally off nostalgia for the anniversary of the October Revolution. Arguments

for new autumn holiday also include the fact that in Russia there are no holidays associated with pre-revolutionary history. For new holiday, such events as the anniversary of the Battle of Kulikovo or the Battle of Borodino were not taken, but the exile of the Poles in 1612, which have not left a trace in people's memory (Лебедев 2015).

Data from polls

For many Russians new holiday remains unclear and artificial. Starting from 2005, inhabitants of country recognise that they do not celebrate Day of National Unity, but only enjoy day off. Moreover, polls show that most of the Russians cannot even specify the correct name of new holiday. Just over 40% of the Russians know that on November 4 Day of National Unity is celebrated. On the eve of the first Day of National Unity, a sociological survey was conducted in 46 regions of country. 33% of respondents believed that on November 4 Russia celebrates Day of Accord and Reconciliation, 8% were going to celebrate Day of National Unity, and 5% - Day of Liberation from Polish-Lithuanian invaders. The same survey showed that the majority of Russians reacted negatively to the cancellation of November 7 (ВЦИОМ 2005, *Hapod в неведении*).

In addition, in early years of Day of National Unity, results of public opinion research of Russians showed the following: 34% regard positively this feast, and 47% - negatively. The most dissatisfied group of Russians were people older than 60 years, and this is not surprising: Day of National Unity replaced their former Day of the Great October Socialist Revolution. 48% of respondents aged 18-24, who did not grow up during Soviet times and can be considered as more open-minded to political changes group, had a positive attitude to the holiday, but only 27% - negative (ВЦИОМ 2005, Ноябрьские праздники – старые и новые).

In fact, the decision to cancel old holiday seems logical, because no celebration of the revolution can be discussed after its crushing defeat in the result of perestroika and coup d'etat in 1991.

Despite the fact that government is constantly trying to explain to public that this holiday is important, people mostly do not understand this, considering it as usual holiday.

In minds of society, it did not occupy the niche, where identity is formed, which should be realised by every citizen, regardless of their place of residence and nationality.

It is quite difficult to talk about prospects of Day of National Unity in Russian culture, because not much time passed from the time of its introduction (2005). Sociological studies focus on various trends. According to the opinion poll in 2011, the percentage of respondents who do not know the name of holiday, celebrated on November 4, has gradually decreased. However, its exact name Russians remember less and less. 8% of respondents mistakenly believe that on November 4 country celebrates Independence Day of Russia, 4% - Day of Accord and Reconciliation, 2% - Day of the Constitution, 1% - Day of the October Revolution. Among other popular common variants of the name of the holiday are as follows: Day of Reconciliation, Day of unification of peoples, Harmony Day, Day of Solidarity, Day of Liberation from Polish intervention, Day of unity of people (BILIOM 2011, Четвёртое ноября: праздник под знаком вопроса).

Position of political parties

The analysis of parties' discourse around this holiday is shown below. It is based on the sources, such as official websites of parties or journals on Day of National Unity in different years after its introduction. The preliminary analysis showed that all examined parties could be generally divided into two groups: first group supports the idea of Day of National Unity, and the second group denies it. The group, supporting Day of National Unity, includes "United Russia", "Just Russia", LDPR, and "Yabloko" (see Table 1). The table shows their main and mutual points in justification of this holiday.

Texts of ruling party United Russia are the closest to official discourse on November 4 in ideological content; it shares views with top officials. This can be explained by the position of party in power, which is the result of a rational strategy of Russian ruling elite, the implementation of which enables to strengthen presidential power and stabilise political regime (Γοποςοβ 2001, p. 6).

The Liberal Democratic Party of Russia intends to make Day of National Unity main national holiday of country (Этот день очень важен для России 2010). In

general, in the discourse of Liberal Democratic Party in first place affective component dominates.

Table 1: Parties and their justification of Day of National Unity

The basis for the	"United Russia"	Liberal	"Yabloko"	"A Just Russia"
adoption of Day		Democratic		
of National		Party		
Unity				
Holiday is a	X	X		
symbol of				
national unity				
Holiday is a	X			
symbol of a new				
state				
Rejection of	X	X	X	
Soviet legacy,				
replacing				
November 7				
Day of Our				X
Lady of Kazan				

(modified from Ефремова 2012, pp. 18-19)

The only reason for making holiday on November 4 Party "Yabloko" sees as to try to prevent the celebration of November 7 as the date of the October Revolution and to try to erase from minds of people all that was connected with Soviets as a consequence of this revolution (День народного единства... 2006).

The discourse of party "A Just Russia" occupies a special position. The majority of regional offices share a common course of party and support Day of National Unity. It emphasises the power of the spirit of Russian people, its ability to unite in critical conditions, the unity of all people, regardless of origin, religion or social status (Председатель Совета Федерации... 2006).

Opponents of Day of National Unity have a completely different argument (see Table 2).

The Communist Party denies Day of National Unity the most consistently, which is associated with renaming and then with the deprivation of the status of a day off November 7 – the anniversary of the Great October Revolution. Large in comparison with other political parties, the sharpness of Communist Party is manifested in its opposition to authorities. Establishment of Day of National Unity is regarded as a transfer of holiday (marked as "Questionable origin" in the Table 2), desire to oppose Communist Party and the Church, and thus to enhance the disunity of Russian people (День народного единства и актуальные страницы истории 2010). Overthrow of main communist holiday gives grounds to Communist Party to claim the role of main opposition force and to fight for the possession of symbolic power.

Table 2: Parties and their reasons to deny Day of National Unity

Grounds for denial of Day of	Communist Party	"Right Cause"
National Unity		
Deprivation of the	X	
anniversary of the Great		
October Revolution		
Questionable origin	X	X
Day of "national tragedy"		X

(modified from Ефремова 2012, p. 20)

Party "Right Cause" is the ideological successor of "Union of Right Forces" and takes a categorical position on Day of National Unity. November 4 for party is a failed attempt to fill an ideological emptiness (4 μοπδρπ... 2009) (marked as "Questionable origin" in the Table 2), formed after the collapse of the Soviet Union. At the same time, the "Right Cause" is against restoration as a state holiday November 7 – the anniversary of the Great October Revolution, which is the day of national tragedy for Russia (ibid.).

Not being a parliamentary party, "Right Cause" in relation to official political discourse claims the status of non-parliamentary opposition force.

Overall, despite this holiday belongs to "Russian" group, it still has some connections with Soviet past. Therefore, it is possible to trace whether political parties have positive attitude to Soviet past on the occasion of this holiday, negative one, or they take neutral position. This is presented in the Table 3.

Table 3. Willingness of parties to build a narrative around the Day of National Unity

	Own ideology on the	No ideology
	Day of National	
	Unity	
United Russia	X	
Liberal Democratic	X	
Party		
A Just Russia	X	
Yabloko	X	
Communist Party		X
Right Cause		X

However, main struggle around Day of National Unity was developed at the level of public organisations and was connected with the competition of meanings suggested by power and nationalist meanings and practices of celebration.

Already in the first year of celebration – in 2005, there was a so-called "Russian march" to uphold the "Russian nation and nationalism" (Козенко 2005). "Russian marches" were competing source of ideological "pole" of production of Day of National Unity's meaning. Among founders of "Russian march" are "Eurasian Youth Union", "Movement against Illegal Immigration", People's National-patriotic Orthodox Christian movement "Pamyat", movement "Russian order", and others. One of the main meanings of the discourse of power is the idea of "inner unity". However, right-wing radical

discourse has been transformed and got ethno-nationalist bias: "the liberation of Russia from invaders" (Савина 2005), "unity and willingness to fight for national interests of Russian people" (Савина 2008).

The apotheosis of holiday can be considered as the only coordinated action by authorities in Moscow titled "We Are United", which gathered 75 000 people. For the first time procession was attended by representatives of all four parliamentary parties. Participants of meeting listened speeches by the Secretary of General Council of "United Russia" and State Duma Deputy Speaker Neverov, Communist Party leader Gennady Zyuganov, from Liberal Democratic Party – Vladimir Zhirinovsky, from "A Just Russia" – Sergei Mironov (Лидеры КПРФ, ЕР, СР и ЛДПР... 2014). In their speeches, party leaders emphasised the importance of the unity of all people in Russia. Many participants wore George ribbons. While a year before that, in 2013, Communist Party took initiative to cancel the celebration of November 4 – Day of National Unity "in connection with a sharp stratification of society" (Отмена празднования 4 ноября... 2013).

Therefore, discourse analysis of texts of political parties on Day of National Unity allows several conclusions. Firstly, the structure of political discourse on this holiday is characterised by asymmetry. Main criterion is related to Soviet political system, continuity of institutions, which in most cases coincides with the adoption of political event. Secondly, celebrating November 4, political parties negate the legacy of previous political regime. Thirdly and perhaps most importantly, to extent that political parties can fill their political discourse regarding public holiday with new values, as well as use it, it says about their ability to claim power.

To sum up the above, main question today – whether new holiday will become a real holiday for Russians to unite them. There is no clear answer to this question. On the one hand, the historical fact of victory over foreign invaders and the unity of people in this struggle is aligned with the embodiment of identity, enshrined in the celebration of May 9 – "we are winners". On the other hand, the memory of this historic event was erased during the Soviet era, and updating its content will be difficult. In addition, as in the case of Day of Russia, ritual forms of representation, both historical event and its significance for modern Russia, are absent. For November 4, to truly become Day of

National Unity, it is necessary not just to promote the new holiday, but also to reveal diversity and complexity of Russian history in its evolution, identifying key points as in the formation of statehood and in the self-consciousness of Russian society.

Day of Russia (June 12): controversial status of newly created holiday

On June 12, 2014, Russia in twenty-third time celebrated the state holiday – Day of Russia. However, question remains: what is still the essence of holiday, what is its deepest meaning?

History/background

June 12, Day of Russia, is among new holidays. The history of that date is as follows.

Russia's first national holiday was Day of Declaration of State Sovereignty of the Russian Federation. Its appearance was due to the following historical events. On June 12, 1990, the Declaration of the State Sovereignty of the RSFSR was adopted. In this regard, the Supreme Council of the Russian Federation has announced the date of adoption of the Declaration, 12 of June, as holiday.

The status of national holiday that day acquired only in 1994 (Собрание законодательства $P\Phi$ 1994, № 6, art. 591), when the first Russian President Boris Yeltsin signed a decree, giving June 12 national importance – it became Day of the Declaration of State Sovereignty of Russia. Document was signed four years earlier at the First Congress of People's Deputies in circumstances where former republics of the Soviet Union, one after another, became independent. Therewith, on June 12 in addition to the independence of Russia, the country got first popularly elected president

After the adoption of new Labour Code in 2001, holiday was renamed. Officially, the new name of holiday appeared only on February 1, 2002, when provisions of the new Labour Code came into force (День России: история праздника 2012).

From the very beginning after the proclamation of new holiday, it caused a mixed reaction. First question arises – independence from whom? Why Russians still call

Sovereignty Day as Independence Day, because Russia has never been anyone's colony or patrimony (Дугин)?

Given that new holiday was positioned as the day of independence from the USSR, it was strange to see how Russia was universally declared as successor of the USSR. Because of this, new holiday could not accomplish its integrative functions (Shapovalov 2013: 23).

However, against the background of strained relations with Ukraine and the annexation of the Crimea, the associated rise of patriotism and growth of imperial sentiment, Day of Russia may acquire a new meaning.

On official websites, Day of Russia is called the celebration of "freedom, civil peace, and good agreement of all people on the basis of law and justice". It is noted that the holiday "is increasingly acquiring patriotic features and becomes a symbol of national unity and shared responsibility for the present and future of Russia" (День России 2015, trans. by the author of the research).

Data from polls

New public holiday could not immediately gain popularity among the Russians, because it caused a number of issues in scientific community, in media, and among ordinary citizens (Shapovalov 2013: 23).

According to exit polls, 28% respondents were undecided, which holiday is celebrated in Russia on June 12. According to the Fund "Public Opinion" (Фонд «Общественное мнение»), in 2001 Day of Russia was celebrated by only 10% of Russians. However, in next year the number of those who celebrated holiday had fallen to 3%. Reserved attitude to new holiday was showed also in subsequent studies. In particular, a survey conducted in 2004, when it was required to indicate the official name of June 12, showed that about 25% of Russian citizens give wrong answer and it is hard for 33% of them to find a suitable name of holiday. For a significant number of respondents, this date is only an extra day off, but not a holiday (Дубин 2005, pp. 57-60).

Even more revealing data poll was conducted in 2011. According to it, 36% of the Russians called this celebration as Independence Day of Russia despite respondents were offered other variants of the name of this holiday – Constitution Day and Day of National Unity. Every 10th person knew about proclaiming sovereignty of Russia on this day; 4% believed that on this day Russia seceded from the Soviet Union and adopted the Declaration of Independence. About 18-20% of respondents believed that Russia did not manage to become a sovereign state, or it has lost the sovereignty which the USSR had (ВЦИОМ 2011, День России отметили не все).

It should be noted that Day of Russia has not yet become a real nation-wide public holiday. In minds of Russians, it exists more as a political construct and as one additional day off (Дубин 2005: 57-60).

The name of the holiday is always changing, and people have some glitches. However, majority, about 49-50%, say that on June 12 Day of Russia is celebrated. The number of people, who call the holiday Independence Day, is reducing. For 10 years the number of those, who think about this name, was reduced from 65 to 33%. However, someone still remembers that it was the anniversary of the Declaration of Independence of Russia – this is only 6%. 12% do not know what kind of day is this, or do not consider it as a holiday. Officially, it is declared as a free day, and people are willing to celebrate it as a day off (День России на волне патриотизма 2014).

However, the problem of functioning of Day of Russia is not only in this. To date, Day of Russia did not receive necessary substantive content, perhaps because the history of that day is very recent and it is not clear what place will be devoted to Day of Russia in historical memory of the Russians. In addition, there currently are no adequate ritual forms of culture, which would fix and implement social and integrating function of holiday. June 12 continues to exist in minds of most Russians as an extra day off and nothing more (День России. Новое восприятие государственного праздника 2014).

Position of political parties

As for political discourse around this holiday, it is possible to say the following. The review of official websites of parliamentary parties and transcripts of meetings of the

State Duma showed that in 2005 Day of Russia was not a subject of heated debate and was not an instrument for the promotion of any new ideas.

For a long time party "United Russia" did not claim on building its own ideology of the holiday, as evidenced by the lack of holiday greetings on the website of party and in transcripts of pre-holiday meetings of the State Duma. Individual performances and approaches to media of the Chairman of the State Duma Boris Gryzlov, such as in 2006, confirmed that the party did not set a goal to formulate a narrative of the holiday, but rather to maintain and set the course for "further dynamic and effective development based on social cohesion and unified strategy" (Boris Gryzlov congratulated the Russians on the Day of Russia 2006). For the party, by 2006, it became "the main holiday that unifies all inhabitants of country" (Bike ride in honour of the holiday 2006). As in the case with other projects, the party "United Russia" in practice rather played the role of "transmission belt" of the presidential administration in parliament and in regions. The significance of the party during celebrations is strengthened largely due to belonging to it governors and mayors, as well as most of regional and local legislatures. For federal leadership, following "United Russia", Day of Russia is the main state holiday, which every year since 2007, the party celebrates with the festive pickets. Attempts from the ruling party to reformulate the narrative of the holiday have been clearly heard in 2013. A member of the party "United Russia" Fedorov and headed by him and hitherto unknown parliamentary club "Russian sovereignty" proposed to move Day of Russia from June 12 to another memorable date for country (Malay 2013).

Other political actors approached by 2005 without a clear idea and articulate practices of celebration of Day of Russia. The reason for this can be considered a general trend of de-ideologisation of environment in which political parties have turned to be in post-Soviet Russia.

Attempts of public ideological filling of the holiday in 2005-2006 from other political actors were represented, though in individual cases. In particular, it concerns parliamentary Liberal Democratic Party, Communist Party, and non-parliamentary "Yabloko". Their attitudes towards this holiday are represented in the Table 4. Unlike in the previous subchapter, there is no clear division between acceptance and denial of Day

of Russia in political discourse, as well as this holiday completely belongs to the "Russian" group and does not have any connections with Soviet past, therefore this table is constructed rather on the grounds depending on the willingness of parties to build the narrative around the holiday or to stay neutral. Although it is also controversial, since each of parties showed different degree of participation during different years after the holiday was introduced. That is why the table shows only current attitudes of parties.

Table 4. Willingness of parties to build a narrative around Day of Russia

	Own ideology of the Day of	No ideology
	Russia	
United Russia	X	
Yabloko		X
Liberal Democratic Party	X	
Communist Party	X	
Right Cause	X	
A Just Russia		X

The starting point in the formulation of the ideology of the holiday is the ratio of the Soviet past and events of early 1990s. Resources and the status of a party or association also play an important role.

"Yabloko" party, being represented in the Duma in early 2000s, has not resorted to the use of symbolic resources on 12 June. On the contrary, after losing its seats in Parliament, the party began to pay more attention to the holiday in order to assert its ideological positions. In 2005, the party called Day of Russia albeit controversial event, but the proclamation of new Russia, free from Soviet past (15-летие провозглашения Декларации независимости России... 2005). Later, leaders of the political party for a long time did not use the symbolic resource of Day of Russia. This can be explained by decreased activity of "Yabloko", ideological crisis, and fragmentation within the party.

In the same period, 2005-2006, the position of parliamentary Liberal Democratic Party began to take shape, which later claimed the status of arbitrator. In 2006, the member of the party Bazhina announced that Russian history is not limited to 15 years, "Russia is more than a thousand years, it is a great power with a rich history" (*Transcript of the meeting...* 2006). In 2009, Liberal Democratic Party strengthened its position. As Communist Party, Liberal Democratic Party saw a negative "Yeltsin's heritage" (*Birthday of Russia* 2009) in the holiday. Being aware of the values vacuum that has been formed over past few years due to leapfrog with new public holiday, party leader Vladimir Zhirinovsky offered to "reconcile three Russias: monarchist, Soviet, and new democratic".

Unlike other political actors over past 15 years, Communist Party has formulated its own narrative of Day of Russia as "the day of the greatest geopolitical catastrophe". As parliamentary opposition, Communist Party needs every year to confirm this status, and this holiday came in handy. It was not difficult for leaders of the party to link events on June 12 with that "the country has lost all strategic conquest of the Soviet period on international arena, has lost its former superpower prestige, and became virtually a raw material appendage of the West" (Volkova 2005). Since the beginning of 1990s, the party resorted to the practice of pickets, which, however, have not always been numerous. However, Communist Party cannot be called a powerful political force that would be able to compete for the practice of celebrating Day of Russia. Extensive media coverage of celebrations, organised by power and "United Russia", allowed achieving levelling of pickets. Communist Party stated about uncontested liquidation of holiday during presidency of Medvedev and after.

Parallel to official events, Russian opposition held the so-called civil nonpartisan rally "I am free!" ("Я свободен!»), which started on June 12, 2005, on Day of Russia (Я свободен... 2006). At the rally of more than two thousand people, activists of liberal non-parliamentary parties, including "Yabloko", were seen. For non-system opposition, Day of Russia embodied most hope for a better future. Opposition enhanced using of public holidays, in particular June 12, for alternative marches. In the wake of rise of protest movements, holidays are seen as an opportunity to consolidate left and right opposition. For example, there was an organised in 2013 on Day of Russia "March for your and our

freedom!", which became an opposition action in support of activists being harassed by authorities (*The party "Yabloko"*... 2013).

The holiday for the Liberal Conservatives "Right Cause", even before the "reset" of the party, has been called "the first and important step towards democracy and freedom of seventy years of totalitarian communist build-up on the body and soul of Russia" (Дячкин 2009). Such an understanding, in the first place, is typical to the regional branches of the party. In 2011, the party called June 12 as the symbol of struggle for freedom against domestic government restrictions — "for the preservation of the direct election of mayors, media freedom, freedom of association, political competition, against the growing influence of security services" (ibid.), combat with vertical power.

At period 2006-2007, became active discussions around Day of Russia and its practical use by other political actors, including parliamentary parties and public organisations. Specified by power vector set for parliamentary parties the question of the consistency of main events of national holiday.

Party "A Just Russia" is often seen as a Kremlin project, "left" opposition of conservative "United Russia". The idea of forming an opposition political party was made in March 2006 at the meeting of the chief ideologist of country, deputy head of presidential administration Surkov and chairman of party "Life" Mironov. Given this fact, it can be assumed, that in the face of parliamentary opposition, power was looking for possible reformulation of the narrative of celebration and expanding boundaries of national identity. It seems that there is no and there was no unity in "A Just Russia". For someone Day of Russia remained the holiday of undeveloped parliamentarianism and decoy target. For federal leadership, after "United Russia", Day of Russia was a major national holiday, which every year since 2007 party celebrated by festive pickets.

Thus, the obvious desire of ruling elite to get away from controversial events of 1990s through the formulation of narrative of thousand-year history is not proved to be successful. It left white spots in the formation of nodal points of national identity, which cannot be made up by any of political actors so far.

Victory Day (May 9): Soviet holiday for the construction of post-Soviet identity

History/background

In 1945, long before the birth of first persons of the majority of modern Russian state, the country called the Soviet Union won a long-awaited victory over Nazi Germany. Millions of Soviet citizens, regardless of their social status and ethnicity, age, and gender were hastening victory as they could (Леонов 2013).

Thus, it is Victory Day that is Russia's national holiday, serving as an annual symbol of national unity. If Irish communities in all countries celebrate Saint Patrick's Day, Russian communities celebrate not Orthodox Easter, not Day of Russia, but Victory Day. Sometimes with scandal and fight as in Baltic States and Ukraine, but they do celebrate it. It is because in the past century of social experiments, Russians have become a nation with shattered identity, and Victory Day is the last fragile link cementing it (Pozharskiy 2013).

The collapse of modern Russian identity is already evident in the fact that numerous attempts are undertaken to substitute the ideological content of the largest national holiday, Victory Day, by symbols of ethnic and regional identity. For example, in 2002, the celebration of May 9 in Kazan, Republic of Tatarstan, was carried out by bureaucratic elites in such a way that the focal point of celebration was contribution to the victory of Soviet soldiers of Tatarstan. The same symbolic substitution can be traced in the celebration of Victory Day in the North Caucasus, where the desire of a number of leaders to show contribution to the victory of titular peoples of their regions is clearly manifested. Among patriotic rhetoric is intention to resolve pressing political problems to normalise inter-ethnic relations is clearly heard. The image of common Soviet past in the public consciousness of peoples rapidly dissolves, exposing long-standing national sentiment and mutual claims. To suspend this process, according to federal centre and regional authorities, is possible, relying on the symbol of May 9th. However, to put hopes on Victory Day for the formation of civic identity is meaningful only when it becomes an all-Russian day of mournful commemoration of the dead and human suffering. Nevertheless, until now, it is possible to see the opposite, that May 9 is exactly Victory

Day, the celebration of Soviet Army over Nazi Germany (День Победы в Великой Отечественной войне 1941-1945 годов 2015).

The theme of Stalin's crimes during war and humanitarian price of victory are completely driven out of historical memory. May 9 celebration is not overshadowed by memories of victims of Stalinism. Victory Day and commemoration of victims of Stalinist deportations artificially separated and divided in public consciousness (Rahaev 2014: 3-4).

The relevance of this holiday is determined not only by maintaining its main content, but also by fixing it in ritual and ceremonial forms of culture.

These forms are different and include both historically developed and emerged recently. At the state level, such forms include a ceremony of laying wreaths on graves of the fallen on battlefield, and, of course, a military parade on Red Square and in major Russian cities (Ushakin 2013: 274).

Vividly these forms were shown in 2005 and 2015 – years of the celebration of the sixtieth and seventieth anniversary of the Victory. A number of public organisations initiated a new form – action "George Ribbon". It is very important to update and consolidate historical and socio-organising meaning of Victory Day. Everyone, who fixed on his or her clothing or car St. George ribbon as a symbol of Russia the winner, thereby involved him- or herself in union of people and the commonality of their historical destiny. In addition, media in this case play an active role. All TV and radio channels on the day of celebrating victory see to not only congratulate veterans, but also look for new forms of actualisation of the historical meaning of events, which occurred on May 9, 1945, in minds of post-Soviet generation. Victory Day is a rare holiday when propaganda actions and actions of state find understanding and support of Russian people (Юрлова 2007).

However, there is also a contradictory side of this holiday. The vast majority of veterans of the Great Patriotic War, who actually took part in battle, died. The youngest veterans are very old; they are far from over eighty. The less these people, respected by all, are, the more the state seeks to demonstrate its concern for victorious warriors. In

everyday life, many of these old men are not wanted, and even high on Russian standards pensions cannot save them from illness and loneliness. However, every May 9 holiday begins displaying on parade barely alive veterans, inspirational speeches are pronounced, and salute thunders. The only question is for whom is this celebration? Different state won over Germany, state with different ideological orientations and values, with other people, and with other symbols (Полонский 2013).

At present, Russian society is experiencing a period of intergenerational transformation. This process will lead to the fact that the vast majority of members of public will learn about the Great Patriotic War from secondary and tertiary sources. To this, it is needed to add another factor: the memory of war was politically used for 70 years that have passed since the victory, but was used differently. Political objectives and context were changing. Victory Day was always celebrated, but in different ways. The highest flowering of the cult of the memory of victory came in Brezhnev period. In this sense, post-Soviet Russia inherited practices and format of Victory Day celebrations from the late Soviet era (День Победы – вечная память 2014).

Data from polls

41% of Russians believe the Victory Day is one of the most important holidays. In connection with it, they feel joy, not sorrow. This is according to the survey of "Levada Centre" (Война как прошлое и будущее 2015). In 1992, 25% citizens thought so, in 2005 – 32%, in 2014 – 36% of respondents. Experts believe that this is due to "injection of atmosphere of confrontation with the world" and the use of symbol of victory by state propaganda for its purposes (Перцев 2015). Among the most important holidays are own birthdays – 42%, birthdays of loved ones – 44%. In previous years family celebrations were more important than Victory Day for Russians. 65% of population are going to celebrate May 9 (Перцев 2015).

59% of the respondents on 9 May have a feeling of "joy at the fact that country has won the Great War". Compared with 2010, the number of citizens who has the Victory Day as "sorrow for the millions who died in the war" decreased (Περιμεв 2015).

According to 31%, May 9 – "the official holiday". As much Russians call it "national holiday". 16% of respondents called Victory Day a holiday of veterans of the war (Περιμεв 2015).

The majority of Russians consider that it is the best to celebrate Victory Day by care for veterans, 29% say that "parades, processions, fireworks, official receptions" would be appropriate (Περμεβ 2015).

The point of view of citizens on the causes of war shifted. 31% of respondents think that "Munich Agreement" allowed Hitler to begin it, 19% called it was the "Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact". In addition, 69% of Russians believe that the Soviet Union could defeat Germany without the help of allies, 22% believe that the Soviet Union could not do it (Περμεβ 2015).

67% of respondents believe that the Russian government is sensitive to the problems of war veterans, 24% of respondents claim that "there is no special attention" (Περιμεв 2015).

Victory Day is the only holiday where there is no doubt about its social significance. The vast majority of Russians regardless of their political beliefs, religion, gender, and age believe that this day is a major holiday and sacred day in Russian history. An important feature of Victory Day is that it compounds social and existential meaning. The war had gone through the fate of Russian people; every family, anyway, remembers terrible trials of war years. This memory is not supported by state and ideological slogans, but by the living memory of the people. For many families, Victory Day is not only and not so much a public, but deeply personal and family holiday. Not only families of war veterans celebrate this day; many others, gathering around holiday table, remember those who died for their homeland. Preservation and relevance of cultural and historical significance of holiday is the basis of its real being in the culture of modern Russia. Victory Day is the only day of the year, when to the question "who are we?" the society knows the answer, perceived by everyone: "we are winners" (Юрлова 2007).

Position of political parties

If to talk about Russian political elite, it is worth noting that in early 1990s explicit attempts were made to adapt the memory of war to political context. This was expressed in a rather radical change in practices of celebration and in discourse, in which the celebration of Victory Day was formed. Yeltsin's political elite sought to draw a line that it was a victory of people, not the Soviet state, that it was not achieved due to regime, but in spite of it. Victory Day celebration was moved from Red Square to other sites, in particular, to the territory of memorial complex being built on Poklonnaya Hill. In 1995, celebration of the 50th anniversary of Victory in the Great Patriotic War was held on Red Square again. From that moment parades on Red Square were held annually. Even in Soviet times, May 9 parade was held only in jubilee years, i.e. every five years. Partly decision on annual celebration is connected to the problem of the historical memory of the Great Patriotic War, which is very important for Russia and for the construction of new Russian identity. At the same time, the format, in which it is presented, is changing before eyes, because, again, the number of veterans is getting smaller and smaller, and to replace them, a new generation comes, which does not know war on personal experience. It needs to be reminded to consolidate this event in memory by relevant political and symbolic practices (День Победы – вечная память 2014).

Certainly, the government and political forces will continue to invest significant resources in maintaining the historical memory of war. At the same time, historical memory of different generations is inevitably varying. Reasonable to assume that everything will be done to ensure that younger generation will remember the Great Patriotic War (День Победы — вечная память 2014).

The ruling elite competitors in fight for the symbolic content of Victory Day can be considered both left and right movement. This fight also includes Communist Party, which sought to promote alternative meanings. For the party May 9 is a sacred holiday, symbols of which are undoubtedly Stalin, the CPSU, and Soviet people. In 2005, in the anniversary year of the Victory, parades of leftist organisations did not take place. Due to the importance of holiday, police representatives dispersed them (Сайдукова 2005).

In 2006, the radical leftist youth organisations and the National Bolsheviks joined Communist Party. However, this did not lead to a successful cooperation. This was largely because different political actors saw different meanings in May 9. For example, "Yabloko" wants to show that authorities, hiding behind the great holiday, did not want truth about war (Явлинский 2005). While the Communists from one year to the another resent the fact that presidents in their celebratory speeches do not mention a decisive contribution to the cause of the Great Victory of the Communist Party of the USSR and of leader Stalin.

In 2010 in Moscow, in the preparation of the celebration of May 9, took place public and political debates about the use of portraits of Stalin. This initiative was supported in Communist Party, for which victory cannot be separated from Communist Party and leader Stalin personally. Other positions are hold by Liberal Democratic Party and "A Just Russia". The leader of Liberal Democratic Party said: "Hung portraits of war veterans, war heroes. Stalin's portraits should not be hung on the streets" (*Ha плакатах ко Дню Победы должны быть герои войны* 2010). "A Just Russia" is more critical to activities of Stalin, recalling original plans for the conquest of Europe. While centrist "United Russia" has chosen the tactics of silence.

Use of Victory Day as a tool of symbolic policy was not only the way of attempts to empower holiday with new meanings, but also by alternative uses of the date – for protests of non-systemic Russian opposition. For example, on May 9, 2012, at monument to Kazakh poet Abay Kunanbayev, a protest camp "OccupayAbay" was organised, named so by analogy with protest movement Occupy Wall Street in the United States (Волков 2014: 155-197). The beginning of event organisation, however, is associated with the inauguration of Vladimir Putin, which took place day before – 8 of May.

This subchapter, as previous subchapters on the Day of National Unity and Day of Russia, contains a summarising table concerning political parties' willingness to build a narrative around this holiday (Table 5).

Table 5. Willingness of parties to build a narrative around Victory Day

	Own ideology of the Victory Day	No ideology
United Russia	Victory Day	X
Communist Party	X	
Yabloko	X	
Liberal Democratic Party	X	
A Just Russia	X	
Right Cause		X

Despite some parties clearly express how they see the history of the Great Patriotic War, and some do not, the significance of the symbol of the Victory is not questioned by anyone, and the memory of the Great Patriotic War could serve as a basis for the construction of collective identity. The myth of war in post-Soviet Russia has become not only the subject of the decision of momentary power's objectives, but also shared and fertile idea of nation.

However, analysis of discourse of political parties shows that silence about estimations of the value of the Soviet era and its other symbols entails challenging of such narrative about holiday, which, however, does not get into question holiday itself.

Discussion

The following table summarises the research results (Table 6). It shows whether parties build their own ideology around holiday or they do not show the willingness to do it.

As it can be seen, in case of every studied holiday, majority of parties, although different ones, express willingness to build own ideology around these holidays. It is shown in previous subchapters that usually these ideologies are very different from each other even for the same holiday, which means disagreement inside the political elite.

Table 6. Willingness of political parties to build narratives around commemorative holidays

	Day of National	Day of Russia	Victory Day
	Unity		
United Russia	+	+	-
Communist Party	-	+	+
Yabloko	+	-	+
Liberal Democratic	+	+	+
Party			
A Just Russia	+	-	+
Right Cause	-	+	-

In contrast to the "Soviet" Victory Day, directly associated with the legacy of the previous regime, although sometime negatively, the Day of Russia and the Day of National Unity would be a good tool to promote the vision of national history, the relationship to the past and to attempt to formulate a national identity. They are the direct ideological "product" of the new Russia, but it requires greater extent of agreement between political parties.

"Invention" of new public holidays can not be considered as fully successful. In the case of the Day of Russia, some political parties cannot even suggest own narrative for modern history of Russia. Poorly-designed grounds of Day of National Unity is evidence of unsolved grounds of national identity for 20 years.

Overall, the practices of celebration of holidays from "Russian" group do not have a systemic nature, which is evidenced in data polls. The possible reason for that is disagreement among political parties about the ideological content of these holidays, which is also presented in the research. Also, it proves the assumption, suggested in theoretical part, that national holidays are "unstable signifiers" because despite the fact that holidays make 24-hour "pause" in life, people can deliberately ignore them, not perceiving as "something special"; their meaning may change over time (Geisler 2009: 15-16). These "unstable", weak holidays reveal the problem with construction of national narrative.

CONCLUSION

Studying holidays as tools of construction of national identity allows paying attention to how society's values are changing, how the competition of ideas happened and how a political technology can be used. The research tried, firstly, to analyse how the transformation of national identity of modern Russian society happened and, secondly, how it was mechanised by political parties through the introduction of new or revision of old commemorative holidays.

The construction of national identity does not restrict study only by discursive practices, which were designated as the ideology of holiday, but also provides an opportunity to focus on the evolution of celebrations.

The logic of analysis of contemporary Russian public holidays based on the fact that it was necessary to show how in case of some holidays (Victory Day) there was a gradual replacement of ideologically inconvenient meanings and in case of other holidays (Day of Russia, Day of National Unity), they were in a situation of invention of symbols and narratives related to Russian history.

The analysis has shown that the inclusion of political actors in struggle for symbolic meanings and practices of public holidays is most active where state is unable to offer a coherent narrative and forms of celebration. It concerns Day of Russia and Day of National Unity.

New holidays – Day of Russia and Day of National Unity – could be a good tool to promote the vision of national history, attitude to past and the formulation of grounds of national identity, as they are associated with a new stage in the development of state.

As the analysis showed, in the case of 12 June, government was not ready for the evaluation of ambiguous events of early 1990s, which on the one hand marked the collapse of empire, and on the other – opened the way for new achievements. This resulted in a loss of interest about the potential of Day of Russia and in updating tasks for symbolic filling new national holiday – Day of National Unity.

Most political parties reached 2005 without a clear idea of the practice of celebrating Day of Russia. Ultimately, the memory of the collapse of the Soviet Union and the establishment of new regime was and still is the main topic of discussions on Day of Russia. In this respect, in contrast to other political actors, who recognise that Day of Russia, though controversial, but the most important holiday in country over past 15 years, Communist Party has formulated its own narrative of Day of Russia as the greatest geopolitical catastrophe.

Attempt to link new, Soviet, and pre-revolutionary Russian history by inventing Day of National Unity, which is more suitable for the implementation of metanarrative of thousand-year history, was not proved to be successful. Contradictory grounds of holiday, no living memory about events of that period were the occasion for criticism by political actors. Parliamentary parties, except Communist Party, although they recognised holiday, but they have not been able to fill it with ideological content.

The only holiday, that does not cause much contradiction between political forces in the sense of its significance for national identity, is Victory Day, although parties suggest different interpretations of its history.

The disagreement amongst political parties about the symbolic meaning of holidays consequently causes the rejection or not complete understanding of symbols in people's minds. Therefore, the construction of new Russian national identity, different from the Soviet one, based on studied commemorative holidays, currently seems difficult. At the same time, 24 years of Russia is a relatively short period in history and there are chances that later government will develop concepts of Russian national identity more clearly and then it will be easier to promote it amongst population.

Overall, the work brings the understanding that in contemporary Russia political parties and non-system actors are unlikely capable to seriously compete for the meaning of holidays, to influence the direction of policy and interpretation of national identity.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Theoretical background

ANDERSON, B., 2001. *Imagined Communities. Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism.* Moscow. #

BENNETT, A. & A. George, 1997. *Process Tracing in Case Study Research*. Paper presented at the MacArthur Foundation Workshop on Case Study Methods, BCSIA Harvard University, October 17 - 19, 1997, pp. 5-15.

EFREMOVA, V. N., 2011. New Russian Public Holidays and their Interpretation in the Official Political Discourse. Bulletin of Perm State University. A series of "Political Science", no. 3 (15).

EFREMOVA, V. N., 2012. *National Holidays as "unstable symbol" of national identity*. Symbolic politics. Vol. 1: Construction of notions of the past as a power resource. Moscow.

EFREMOVA, V. N., 2014. *Public Holidays as Instruments of Symbolic Politics: Possibilities of Theoretical Description.* Symbolic Politics. Vol. 2: The Debate of the Past as the Design of the Future. Moscow.

GEISLER, M., 2009. *The Calendar Conundrum: National Days as Unstable Signifiers*. National days: Constructing and Mobilising National Identity, ed. by McCrone D., McPherson G. N.Y.: Palgrave Macmillan.

HALL, S. & P. DU GAY, 1996. *Questions of Cultural Identity*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.

HOBSBAWM, E., 2002. 'Inventing Traditions', *The Invention of Tradition*. Cambridge

HOBSBAWM, E. J. & T. RANGER, 1983. *The Invention of Tradition*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

LUHMANN, N., 2000. *The Reality of the Mass Media*. Trans. by Cross K. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

MALINOVA, O. Y., 2010. Symbolic Politics and Construction Macropolitical Identity in Post-Soviet Russia. Polis, no. 2, p. 90-105.

MCCRONE, D. & MCPHERSON, G., 2009, ed. *National Day's: Constructing and Mobilising National Identity*. N.Y.

MOSSE, G. L., 1975. The Nationalisation of the Masses: Political Symbolism and Mass Movements in Germany from the Napoleonic Wars through the Third Reich, New York.

PUNTON, M. & WELLE, K., 2015. *Applying Process Tracing in Five Steps*. Centre for Development Impact, UK.

ROLF, M., 2006. Das Sowjetische Massenfest. Hamburg: Hamburger Edition.

SARAYKIN, D. Y., 2011. *The Political Interpretation of the Holiday as a Mechanism of Political Reality*. Vestnik TSU. Philosophy. Sociology. Politics. no. 3 (15).

SCHERBININ, A. I., 2007. *The Communicative Nature of the Political Feast.*Political Marketing, no. 6.

SHERLOCK, T., 2007. Historical Narratives in the Soviet Union and Post-Soviet Russia. Destroying the Settled Past, Creating an Uncertain Future. N. Y.: Palgrave Macmillan.

SHERLOCK, T., 2011. *Making Sense of Self-Representations*. Washington Quarterly.

SMITH, K. E., 2002. *Mythmaking in the New Russia: Politics and Memory during the Yeltsin Era.* L.: Cornell University Press.

ZYGULSKI, K., 1981. Święto i kultura: więta dawne i nowe Rozważania socjologa. Instytut Wydawniczy Związków Zawodowych.

ГЛЕБКИН, В. В., 1998. Ритуал в советской культуре. М.: Янус-К.

КОПОСОВ, Н., 2011. *Память строгого режима: История и политика в России*. М.: НЛО.

МИЛЛЕР, А. & М. ЛИПМАН, 2012. *Историческая политика в XXI веке*. М.: НЛО.

Empirical analysis

ABRAMS, A., 1999. *Commemorative Holidays in post-Soviet Russia* [online]. Available from: http://www.wilsoncenter.org/event/commemorative-holidays-post-soviet-russia [Accessed 26 October 2014].

Bike ride in honour of the holiday, 13.06.2006. The official website of the political party "United Russia".

Birthday of Russia, 10.07.2009. Official site "Liberal Democratic Party of Russia" [online]. Available from: http://ldpr.ru/ldpr_talks/analytics/birthday_russia/ [Accessed 30 September 2015].

Boris Gryzlov congratulated the Russians on the Day of Russia, 12.06.2006. RIA "Novosti" [online]. Available from: http://ria.ru/politics/20060612/49348366.html#14161624926344&message=resize&relt o=login&action=removeClas [Accessed 29 September 2015].

BOURDIEU, P., 1989. *Social Space and Symbolic Power*. Sociological Theory, Vol. 7, No. 1.

FILINA, O., 2015. "Memory relies on infrastructure". Chef Researcher INION about the memory policy [«Память опирается на инфраструктуру». Главный научный сотрудник ИНИОН РАН – о политике памятных дат], Ogoniok, vol. 32-33, n. 5383, pp. 14-15.

FURSOV, A., 2014. The October Revolution had released energy that broke the back of the Wehrmacht and launched man into space (Октябрьская революция

выпустила энергию, которая сломала хребет Вермахту и запустила человека в космос), [online]. Available from: http://www.nakanune.ru/service/print.php?articles=9644 [Accessed 9 September 2015].

MALAY, E., 10.07.2013. Day of Russia is offered to move to another date. Izvestia [online]. Available from: http://izvestia.ru/news/553280 [Accessed 30 September 2015].

POZHARSKIY, M., 2013. *The Apotheosis of War (Апофеоз войны)* [online]. Available from: http://russdeath.ru/post/50020346155/http://russdeath.ru/post/50020346155/михаил-пожарский-апофеоз-войны [Accessed 10 September 2015].

RAHAEV, J., 2014. World War II and Deportation in the Cultural Memory of Karachay and Balkar (Вторая мировая война и депортация в культурной памяти карачаевцев и балкарцев), Caucasus Survey, 1:2, pp. 49-61.

SHAPOVALOV, S. N., 2013. Formation of the National Holidays in the Modern Russia. Общество: социология, психология, педагогика, №3.

The Party "Yabloko" on the Day of Russia took part in the "March for your and our freedom!", 12.06.2013. Yabloko [online]. Available from: http://www.yabloko.ru/regnews/Moscow/2013/06/12 [Accessed 30 September 2015].

Transcript of the meeting of 14 June 2006, N 170(884). State Duma [online]. Available from: http://transcript.duma.gov.ru/node/877/ [Accessed 30 September 2015].

USHAKIN, S., 2013. Remembering in Public: On the Affective Management of History. Ab Imperio. N1.

VOLKOVA, E., 17.06.2005. *The protest in the community will continue to grow*. Ryazan regional branch of the Communist Party [online]. Available from: http://www.kprf.ryazan.ru/2005/20050617_01.htm [Accessed 30 September 2015].

15-летие провозглашения Декларации независимости России: что это сегодня?, 2005. Сайт партии «Яблоко» [online]. Available from: http://www.yabloko.ru/Publ/2005/2005_06/050614_echo_yashin.html [Accessed 11 April 2015].

4-е ноября — День народного единства, 2015. Севастопольская морская академия [online]. Available from: http://sevma.ru/news/4-e-noyabrya---den-naroodnogo-edinstva [Accessed 27 November 2015].

4 ноября – неудачная попытка заполнить идеологическую пустоту, 2009. Сайт политической партии «Правое дело» [online]. Available from: http://www.sps.ru/?id=233142 [Accessed 11 April 2015].

APTEMЬEB, A., 2014. *«31 спорный вопрос» русской истории: как менялось отношение ко Дню Победы: Наука: Наука и техника: Lenta.ru* [online]. Available from: http://lenta.ru/articles/2014/03/03/myths/ [Accessed 17 March 2015].

Ведомости Съезда народных депутатов Российской Федерации и Верховного Совета Российской Федерации, 1992. №41.

Война как прошлое и будущее, 2015. Левада-Центр [online]. Available from: http://www.levada.ru/2015/09/14/vojna-kak-proshloe-i-kak-budushhee/ [Accessed 28 November 2015].

ВОЛКОВ, Д., 2014. «Оккупай Абай» - уличный протестный лагерь в Москве в мае 2012 года глазами его участников. Вестник общественного мнения, №1-2 (117). С. 155-197.

Временник Ивана Тимофеева, 2004. СПб: Наука.

ВЦИОМ, 2005. *Народ в неведении* [online]. Available from: http://wciom.ru/index.php?id=269&uid=1948 [Accessed 04 April 2015].

ВЦИОМ, 2005. *Ноябрьские праздники – старые и новые* [online]. Available from: http://wciom.ru/index.php?id=459&uid=1955 [Accessed 06 April 2015].

ВЦИОМ, 2009. *Новый праздник: День народного единства* [online]. Available from: http://wciom.ru/index.php?id=459&uid=12671 [Accessed 03 April 2015].

BЦИОМ, 2010. *Первомай празднуют две трети россиян* [online]. Available from: http://wciom.ru/index.php?id=266&uid=13472 [Accessed 29 March 2015].

ВЦИОМ, 2010. День народного единства: ускользающий смысл праздника [online]. Available from: http://wciom.ru/index.php?id=459&uid=13980 [Accessed 03 April 2015].

ВЦИОМ, 2011. День России отметили не все [online]. Available from: http://wciom.ru/index.php?id=266&uid=111690 [Accessed 26 October 2014].

ВЦИОМ, 2011. *Четвёртое ноября: праздник под знаком вопроса* [online]. Available from: http://wciom.ru/index.php?id=459&uid=112077 [Accessed 03 April 2015].

ГОЛОСОВ, Г. В. & А. В. ЛИХТЕНШТЕЙН, 2001. «Партии власти» и российский институциональный дизайн: теоретический анализ. Полис, N 1.

День народного единства и актуальные страницы истории, 2010. Сайт Коммунистической Партии Российской Федерации [online]. Available from: http://kprf.ru/rus_soc/84211.html [Accessed 11 April 2015].

День народного единства: патриотический праздник или просто выходной?, 2006. Сайт Челябинского отделения Российской Объединённой демократической партии «Яблоко» [online]. Available from: http://chel.yabloko.ru/news/den_narodnogo_edinstva%3A_patrioticheskiy_prazdnik_ili_prosto_vyhodnoy%3F?page=46 [Accessed 11 April 2013].

День Победы в Великой Отечественной войне 1941-1945 годов, 2015. РИА Новости [online]. Available from: http://ria.ru/spravka/20150509/1063297223.html [Accessed 28 November 2015].

День Победы — вечная память, 2014. PCMД [online]. Available from: http://russiancouncil.ru/inner/?id_4=3652#top-content [Accessed 28 November 2015].

День России — 12 июня. История и особенности праздника в проекте Календарь Праздников, 2015 [online]. Available from: http://www.calend.ru/holidays/0/0/54/ [Accessed 06 April 2014].

День России: история праздника, 2012. РИА Новости [online]. Available from: http://ria.ru/spravka/20120612/669493173.html [Accessed 28 November 2015].

День России. Новое восприятие государственного праздника, 12.06.2014. Военное обозрение [online]. Available from: http://topwar.ru/51498-den-rossii-novoe-vospriyatie-gosudarstvennogo-prazdnika.html [Accessed 29.10.2015]

День *Poccuu на волне патриотизма*, 2014 [online]. Available from: http://www.radioazadlyg.org/content/article/25418895.html [Accessed 06 April 2014].

ДУБИН, Б., 2005. Будни и праздники. *Вестник общественного мнения:* Данные. Анализ. Дискуссии. № 2.

ДУГИН, А. День России – это недоразумение, а не праздник. Политическая Партия EBPA3ИЯ [online]. Available from: http://eurasia.com.ru/partorg1506.html [Accessed 28 November 2015].

ДЯЧКИН, О., 15.06.2009. 12 июня 1990 года мы сделали первый и важный шаг к демократии и свободе от семидесятилетнего тоталитарного, коммунистического нароста на теле и душе России [online]. Available from: http://www.qwas.ru/russia/sps/Lipeckaja-oblast-Oleg-Djachkin-12-ijunja-1990-goda-my-sdelali-pervyi-i-vazhnyi-shag-k-demokratii-i-svobode-ot-semidesjatiletnego-totalitarnogo-kommuni/ [Accessed 29.10.2015]

ЕФРЕМОВА, В. Н., 2012. Российские политические партии в борьбе за смыслы и значения новых государственных праздников. Сборник материалов по итогам IV всероссийской ассамблеи молодых политологов. Пермь: Издательский дом «Типография купца Тарасова». 260 с.

ЕФРЕМОВА, В. Н., 2015. Государственные праздники как инструменты символической политики в современной России [online]. Available from: http://iph.ras.ru/uplfile/aspir/autoreferat/efremova/efremova_avtoreferat.pdf [Accessed 19 March 2015].

Журнальный зал / Дискуссия. Память о войне в современных российских СМИ, 2005. Неприкосновенный запас N2-3.

ЗВЕРЕВА, Г., 2008. Русский проект: конструирование позитивной национальной идентичности в современном российском государстве и обществе. Eurasian Reviews, Volume 1.

Кодекс законов о труде $PC\Phi CP$ от 09.12.1971.

КОЗЕНКО, А., 2005. «Правый марш» дал задний ход. Коммерсант. М. 09.11.2005, №210 (3294). С. 8.

КРУПНОВ, Ю., 2005. *Публикации / Великая Победа в Великой Войне*. Народное образование N4.

ЛЕБЕДЕВ, В., 2015. *Всё те же яблоки раздора*. Газета «Хакасия» [online]. Available from: http://gazeta19.ru/news/35997 [Accessed 28 November 2015].

ЛЕОНОВ, Н., 2013. *Война за Великую Отечественную* [online]. Available from: http://bookmix.ru/groups/viewtopic.phtml?id=2663 [Accessed 28 November 2015].

Лидеры КПРФ, EP, CP и ЛДПР вместе участвовали в митинге «Мы едины», 04.11.2014. РИА Новости [online]. Available from: http://ria.ru/politics/20141104/1031690434.html [Accessed 29.10.2015].

На плакатах ко Дню Победы должны быть герои войны, 2010. ЛДПР [online]. Available from: http://xn--d1anne.xn--p1ai/events/The_posters_Victory_Day_to_be_war_heroes/ [Accessed 13 April 2015].

Отмена празднования 4 ноября — «Дня народного единства», 10.11.2013. Коммунистическая партия Российской Федерации [online]. Available from: http://ni.kprf.ru/n/870/ [Accessed 29.10.2015].

ПЕРЦЕВ, А., 2015. День Победы как день рождения [online]. Available from: http://www.kommersant.ru/doc/2720132 [Accessed 28 November 2015].

ПОПОВА, В. Н., 2011. Праздник как форма культурной памяти: государственные праздники России XX – начала XXI вв.: автореф. дис. ... канд. культ. наук. Екатеринбург.

Православные христиане отмечают праздник в честь Казанской Иконы Божьей Матери, 2013. Вечерняя Москва [online]. Available from: http://vm.ru/news/2013/11/03/pravoslavnie-hristiane-otmechayut-prazdnik-v-chest-kazanskoj-ikoni-bozhej-materi-221083.html [Accessed 27 November 2015].

Председатель Совета Федерации, лидер партии «Справедливая Россия» Сергей Миронов поздравил россиян с Днём народного единства, 2006. НИА «Нижний Новгород» [online]. Available from: http://www.niann.ru/?id=306940 [Accessed 11 April 2015].

ПРОПП, В., 2004. Русские аграрные праздники. Опыт историкоэтнографического исследования. М.: Лабиринт.

САВИНА, Е., 2005. *День националистического единства*. Коммерсант. М., 07.11.2005. №208/П (3292). С. 6.

САВИНА, Е., 2008. *«Русскому маршу» дали ход.* Коммерсант. М., 06.11.2008. №201 (4018). С. 7.

САЙДУКОВА, Р., М. УУКОЛОВ, 2005. *Праздничные аресты*. Независимая газета [online]. Available from: http://www.ng.ru/events/2005-05-11/6_aresty.html [Accessed 27 October 2015].

САНИНА, А. Г., 2013. *Формирование Российской идентичности:* гражданско-государственный подход. Санкт-Петербург: Высшая Школа Экономики.

Собрание законодательства РФ, 1994. Указ Президента РФ от 2 июня 1994 г. № 1113 «О государственном празднике Российской Федерации»

Собрание законодательства $P\Phi$, 2002.

Собрание законодательства РФ 2005, №1 (1), art. 27.

ШАПОВАЛОВ, С. Н., 2012. Генезис советских государственных праздников на Кубани в 1918-1930-е гг. Краснодар: Кубанский государственный университет.

Этот день очень важен для России, 2010. Официальный сайт ЛДПР [online]. Available from: http://ldpr.ru/events/LDPR_for_a_unification_of_Russia/ [Accessed 11 April 2015].

Эхо Москвы: Телехранитель Какой Великую Отечественную показывает наше телевиденье: Даниил Дондурей, 01.05.2005 [online]. Available from: http://www.echo.msk.ru/programs/tv/36158/ Accessed [17 March 2015].

ЮРЛОВА, С. В., 2007. *Новая модель праздничной культуры и проблема национальной идентичности*. Медиакультура новой России: методология, технологии, практики. Екатеринбург.

ЯВЛИНСКИЙ, Г. А., 2005. День Победы – день памяти, скорби и молитвы [online]. Available from: http://www.yabloko.ru/Press/Docs/2005/0506_pobeda.html [Accessed 13 April 2015].

Я свободен!: О нас, 2006 [online]. Available from: http://web.archive.org/web/20070701183353/www.yasvoboden.ru/index.php?s=content &p=about [Accessed 11 April 2015].